THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 27 2015

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY SC Court of Appeals  
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-000330

---

Tracy Hines,

Respondent,

v.

Tarsha Y. Alexander, Personal  
Representative of the Estate of  
Clarence Ceal Alexander,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Ira D. Levy  
Post Office Box 31304  
Charleston, SC 29417  
Telephone: (843) 571-5000  
Facsimile: (843) 852-9860  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Probate Court err in finding that a letter from Appellant to Respondent was “a valid and enforceable unilateral contract” that bound an estate beneficiary to its terms?
  
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in affirming the Probate Court’s Order which failed to dismiss Respondent’s Petition for Inclusion as Heir because that cause of action is barred by S.C. Code of Laws § 62-2-109(2)(ii) (1976, as amended)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Clarence Ceal Alexander (“Decedent”) died September 2, 2011. The Charleston County Probate Court appointed Decedent’s daughter, Tarsha Y. Alexander (herein “Appellant”), Personal Representative of Decedent’s Estate on September 8, 2011. (R. p. 20.) On the Application, Appellant listed her brother, Clarence A. Alexander, and herself as intestate heirs of Decedent. (R. p. 17.) Tracy Hines (herein “Respondent”) filed a Petition for Summons and Inclusion as Heir on October 9, 2012. (R. p. 22.) A hearing was held on Respondent’s Petition on January 16, 2013, resulting in a March 27, 2013, Probate Court Order. (R. p. 2.)

On April 8, 2013, in the Probate Court, Appellant filed an Amended Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Probate Court’s March 27, 2013, Order. (R. p. 26.) A hearing was held in the Probate Court on July 10, 2013, resulting in an October 3, 2013, Order. (R. p.

5.) On October 11, 2013, Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal of the Probate Court's October 3, 2013, Order and served Respondent. (R. p. 40.)

On November 21, 2013, Appellant filed her brief and served Respondent. (R. p. 45.) Almost one year later, on November 14, 2014, Respondent filed his brief. (R. p. 54.) On November 18, 2014, Appellant filed a Motion to Strike Respondent's brief. (R. p. 60.)

On November 18, 2014, the Circuit Court heard the Appeal of the Probate Court's October 3, 2013, Order. The Court denied Appellant's Motion to Strike Respondent's brief; however, the Court afforded Appellant the opportunity to file a Reply. (R. p. 146, lines 8-10.) The Circuit Court issued its Order dated January 13, 2015. (R. p. 11.) On February 13, 2015, Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal of the Circuit Court's January 13, 2015, Order and served Respondent. (R. p. 187-89.)

### ARGUMENTS

- I. Because Clarence A. Alexander was not a party to any contract with Respondent, the Probate Court erred in its finding that a valid contract binding Mr. Alexander to its terms existed.

The Probate Court ruled *sua sponte* in its March 27, 2013, Order that "the letter delivered to Petitioner on or about November 8, 2012, was a Private Agreement, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912." (R.

p. 8.) The Court then states that it “accepts the Respondent’s argument that the letter does not fully comply with” the statute. *Id.* But again *sua sponte*, the Court goes on to rule that it “still finds the letter to be a valid and enforceable unilateral contract,” *Id.*, even though an estate beneficiary, Clarence A. Alexander, was not a party and despite citing Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S. Carolina, 354 S.C. 397, 405, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165-66 (S.C. 2003) for authority that “[a] unilateral contract exists when there is only one promisor . . .”

Most alarming, the sentence in the Court’s Order, “In the case at hand, Respondent and Clarence A. Alexander offered to include Petitioner as an heir to the Estate,” (R. p. 9) is factually incorrect. There is no evidence that Clarence A. Alexander made any such offer. Moreover, there is no statute or other law in South Carolina that grants a Personal Representative the authority to bind an estate beneficiary to a contract with a third party.

II. Because Respondent’s paternity was not established by an adjudication commenced before Decedent’s death or within the later of eight months after Decedent’s death or six months after the appointment of a personal representative of Decedent’s Estate, Respondent is barred from inheriting from Decedent’s Estate.

A. PRELIMINARY MATTERS

Subsequent to Decedent's death but prior to Appellant's opening of Decedent's Estate and her appointment as Personal Representative, Respondent was listed in Decedent's obituary as a child of Decedent's. However, argument was proffered without objection at hearing on January 16, 2013, that Appellant "was not interested . . . in disagreement at that time in the funeral home when they were coming up with that." (R. p. 97, lines 4-6.)

Furthermore, John Alexander, Decedent's brother, provided testimony at hearing on January 16, 2013, that Decedent acknowledged Respondent as his son during his lifetime. Appellant's attorney reminded the Court at the July 10, 2013, Motion Hearing that Decedent was incapacitated for at least the last thirty-five years of his life, and Decedent referred to other people as his child who were not actually his child. (R. p. 124, lines 13-16.) Additionally, addressing the DNA evidence that states a probability that John Alexander is the uncle of the child, Appellant's attorney reminded the Court at the January hearing "that the Decedent had seven or eight siblings." (R. p. 96, lines 24-25.)

B. S.C. Code of Laws § 62-2-109(2)(ii) (1976, as amended)

S.C. Code of Laws § 62-2-109(2)(ii) (1976, as amended), in pertinent part, states that

[i]f, for purposes of intestate succession, a relationship of parent and child must be established to determine succession by, through, or from a person, . . . a person born out of wedlock is . . . a child of the father if . . . paternity is established by an adjudication commenced before the death of the father or within the later of eight months after the death of the father or six months after the initial appointment of a personal representative of his estate.

Since Respondent filed his Petition for Inclusion as Heir on October 9, 2012, over thirteen months after Decedent's death and appointment of personal representative, attorney for the Appellant at the January 16, 2013, hearing cited § 62-2-109(2)(ii), moved the Court to dismiss the Petition (R. p. 95, lines 9-11), and stated that "the claim is clearly barred." (R. p. 97, lines 13-15.)

In response, the Probate Court stated that it would take the issue of the statute raised by Appellant's attorney under advisement. (R. p. 97, lines 20-21.) The Court stated, "The issue we have is we've got a statute that requires you to bring your action within a period of time." (R. p. 98, lines 2-4.) Finally, the Court stated that it would research the issue and issue an opinion. (R. p. 98, lines 24-25.)

The issue that the Probate Court indicated at trial that it would conduct further research on was whether § 62-2-109 was a statute of limitation. If the statute was a statute of limitation, the Court reasoned, then Appellant needed to raise the statute as a defense in an Answer, or the defense would be waived. However (and inexplicably), the Probate Court made no mention of § 62-2-109 in its March 27, 2013, Order, or in its October 3, 2013, Order. (R. pp. 2 & 5.)

Regarding the Probate Court's query, whether § 62-2-109 might be a statute of limitation that Appellant had to raise in an Answer, else waive, South Carolina's courts have spoken clearly. South Carolina's Probate Code does not provide a statute of limitations for determining paternity. Smith v. Doe, 357 S.C. 303, 307 n.3, 592 S.E.2d 322, 325 n.3 (S.C.App. 2003). "[W]e affirm the court of appeals, but hold that there is no statute of limitations that is applicable for an action to determine paternity." Smith v. Doe, 366 S.C. 469, 623 S.E.2d 370, 372 (S.C. 2005). Therefore, § 62-2-109 is a mandatory statute that cannot be waived. The statute's time requirements must be strictly complied with.

Regarding whether Appellant should have provided any notice to Respondent upon her appointment as Personal Representative, Respondent has cited S.C. Code of Laws § 62-1-103 (1976, as amended) for its proposition that "the principles of law and equity supplement"

the Probate Code. (R. p. 36.) In response, Appellant cited Phillips v. Quick, 399 S.C. 226, 731 S.E.2d 327, 329 (S.C.App. 2012) for its proposition that “[w]hile equitable principles may extend the time for commencing an action under statutes of limitation, [the Probate Code’s] nonclaim statutes . . . are not subject to equitable exceptions.” (R. pp. 30 & 125-6, lines 23-1). Stated differently, there are statutes in the Probate Code that are not subject to equitable exceptions.

“Commonly, the illegitimate heir must raise the issue to be included in the intestate succession of the father.” Parker v. Parker, 313 S.C 482, 486, 443 S.E.2d 388, 390 (S.C. 1994). To inherit, § 62-2-109’s provisions must be strictly adhered to. If equitable remedies were available to Respondent, then equitable defenses would be available to the Appellant, and Appellant raised them at the July 10, 2013, Motion Hearing, namely that equity aids the vigilant and the diligent. (R. p. 128, lines 5-6.) See generally, Collins v. Sigmon, 299 S.C. 464, 468, 385 S.E.2d, 835, 837-38 (S.C. 1989) (applying the ancient maxim “equity aids the vigilant and diligent” and not those who sleep on their rights). Appellant further remarked at the July 10, 2013, hearing that “[h]ere the Petition[er] was not lulled into inaction.” (R. p. 127, lines 1-2.) “[H]e telephoned . . . the Personal Representative for six or eight months, and she would never call him back. He didn’t want to bother

and stopped bothering her. [One] would think that would set off alarm bells and set a fire under him to act. There's a statute that controls [when] you can petition the court to be included as an heir." (R. p. 127, lines 4-14.) The applicable statute requires that an adjudication of paternity must be filed no later than eight months after the Decedent's death or six months after the initial appointment of a personal representative, and, in the case at bar, Respondent's Petition for Inclusion as Heir was filed October 9, 2012, over one year after Decedent's death and appointment.