RECEIVED

JUL 24 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Circuit Court

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000330

Tracy Hines,

Respondent,

v.

Tarsha Y. Alexander, Personal Representative  
of the Estate of Clarence Ceal Alexander,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

July 22, 2015

Ashley G. Andrews  
Catherine E. LaFond, PA  
SC Bar No. 76667  
544 Savannah Highway  
Charleston, SC 29407  
843.762.3554 (telephone)  
843.377.1111 (facsimile)  
Attorney for the Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

Ira D. Levy, Esq.  
PO Box 31304  
Charleston, SC 29417

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Probate Court correctly find that Appellant was barred by equity from prevailing on a claim that Respondent failed to timely act upon the issue of parentage when he was not made aware that his paternity was at issue until after the time for proving such had passed?
  
- II. Did the Probate Court correctly find that a letter, signed by the Appellant who was personal representative of the Decedent's estate and who had the authority to make an offer of settlement on behalf of the estate, was a valid and enforceable unilateral contract?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Clarence Ceal Alexander ("Decedent") died intestate on September 2, 2011. (R. p. 2) Decedent's obituary stated that he was survived by three children, to wit: Appellant, Clarence A. Alexander, and Respondent. (R. p. 183) Appellant filed an Application for Informal Appointment in the Matter of: Clarence Ceal Alexander on September 8, 2011 in the Probate Court for Charleston County as Case No. 2011-ES-10-1300. (R. pp. 16-21) Appellant did not list Respondent as an intestate heir of the estate. (R. p. 17) The Probate Court appointed Respondent as Personal Representative of the estate on September 8, 2011. (R. p. 20) On October 9, 2012 the Respondent filed a Summons and Petition for Inclusion as Heir ("Petition") alleging he was the biological son of the Decedent and had not been provided with required notice by the personal representative of Decedent's estate. (R. pp. 22-24) Appellant was personally served with a copy of the Summons and Petition on October 16, 2012. (R. p. 25) Appellant did not file an answer or other responsive pleading to the Petition. (R. p. 98, lines 6-10) A hearing on the Petition was held on January 16, 2013 and an Order for Inclusion as Heir was issued by the Honorable Irving G. Condon on March 27, 2013. (R. pp. 2-4) As it pertains to this appeal, the Probate Court found that Respondent was the biological son of the Decedent and should

be included as an heir to Decedent's estate. (R. p. 3) It should be noted that Appellant was the Respondent in the Probate Court and Respondent was the Petitioner. Appellant filed an amended Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend; Memorandum in Support of Motion to Alter or Amend on April 9, 2013. (R. pp. 26-31) Respondent filed a Reply to Appellant's Amended Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend on May 14, 2013. (R. pp. 32-39) An Order Affirming in Part and Denying in Part Respondent's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend was issued by Judge Condon on October 3, 2013. (R. pp. 5-10) As it pertains to this appeal, the Probate Court 1) affirmed its finding that Respondent was the biological son of the Decedent and should be included as an heir of the Decedent's estate, and 2) found that a letter written by Appellant on or about November 5, 2012 created a valid and enforceable unilateral contract to include Respondent as an heir to the Decedent's estate. (R. pp. 6-10)

Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court on October 11, 2013. (R. p. 40) The Notice of Appeal was served on Respondent on October 11, 2013. (R. p. 44) Appellant's brief was filed on November 21, 2013. (R. pp. 45-51) The Probate Court's Return was filed on September 5, 2014. (R. p. 53) Respondent's brief was filed on November 14, 2014. (R. pp. 54-58) Appellant's Final Reply Brief was filed on December 14, 2014 (R. pp. 62-67) After oral arguments were heard on November 18, 2014, the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. issued an Order dismissing Appellant's appeal. (R. pp. 12-15) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on February 13, 2015. (R. p. 187) Respondent was served with a copy of the Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on February 13, 2015. (R. p. 189)

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Probate Court was correct in finding that Appellant was barred by equity from prevailing on a claim that Respondent failed to timely act upon the issue of parentage when he was not made aware that his paternity was at issue until after the time for proving such had passed.

The operative fact in this case is that Respondent knew, or had reason to know, that Appellant was the biological child of Decedent, and still did not provide Respondent or the Probate Court with notice that Respondent was an intestate heir of the estate. Respondent presented both testimony and evidence at the January 16, 2013 hearing to support the allegations set forth in the Petition. (R. p. 75, line 11-p. 78, line 6; R. p. 79, line 8-p. 80, line 8; R. p. 82, line 15-p. 85, line 1; R. p. 86, line 14-p. 87, line 18) Decedent's obituary, which listed Respondent as Decedent's son, was entered into evidence. (R. pp. 182-183) John Alexander, brother of Decedent, gave testimony that Respondent was the son of Decedent and that Respondent attended family reunions and family functions with Decedent. (R. p. 82, line 15-page 85, line 1; R. p. 86, line 14-p. 87, line 18) Also admitted into evidence was a picture. John Alexander testified that the picture was taken approximately twenty years before and that the people in the picture were John Alexander, John Alexander's son, John Alexander's brother Eddie, Respondent, and Decedent. (R. p. 184) Demetira June also testified at the hearing. (R. p. 89, line 20-p. 91, line 14) She testified that Appellant acknowledged that Respondent's daughter was Decedent's granddaughter when Decedent's funeral was being planned and that Clarence A. Alexander gave no indication that that Respondent was not his brother. Appellant did not file any responsive pleadings and did not provide testimony or evidence at the hearing to support a claim that she did not believe Respondent was Decedent's son. While Appellant's counsel did argue that Appellant did not want to have

not want to have any disagreement at the funeral home, counsel's statements do not constitute evidence. *See Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 403 S.E.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1991) (arguments of counsel are not evidence). Likewise, counsel's statements regarding Decedent's capacity and the number of siblings of Decedent are mere statements and not evidence to be considered in this appeal.

Appellant argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-109(2)(ii) should be a bar to Respondent's inclusion as an heir. The statute begins with the word "if." In the case of *Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 443 S.E.2d 388 (1994) the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted that the circuit court relied on the preamble to the statute, the word "if," to conclude that "an adjudication of paternity under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-109 was necessary only in those cases where paternity was questioned" (emphasis added). The Supreme Court of South Carolina went on to state, "The circuit court reasoned, and we agree, that if paternity is questioned by either the personal representative or other interested party ... then such action must be brought within the statutory time frame of six months after the death of the father." *Id.* at 390. Further, the Court found, "The plain meaning of the statute does not delineate which party must raise parentage as an issue; however, obviously that burden must rest with any party with an actual dispute about the parentage." *Id.* In the instant case, Respondent never questioned his parentage. He was only made aware that the Appellant questioned his parentage on or about November 8, 2012 at which time he promptly provided proof that he was Decedent's son. (R. p. 177) If Appellant's argument that S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-109(2)(ii) is a statute of limitations is to be believed, then by her own argument, Appellant was time barred from raising the question of parentage in November of 2012.

While Appellant has cited case law and an article written in 1990 by Alan S. Medlin, the cases and the article do not apply to the facts of this case, the most glaring fact being that a personal representative failed to give notice to an heir that an estate was being probated and then sought to exclude the heir arguing that the heir was time barred from presenting his claim. It should be noted, that by excluding the Respondent from the estate that Appellant would benefit monetarily. Further it was a breach of Appellant's fiduciary duty as personal representative not to provide Respondent with notice of her appointment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-705.

II. The Probate Court was correct in finding that a letter, signed by the Appellant, personal representative of the Decedent's estate, was a valid and enforceable unilateral contract.

S.C. Code of Ann. § 62-3-715(8) allows a personal representative to satisfy and settle claims and distribute the estate as provided in the Probate Code. After being served with Respondent's Petition, Appellant wrote Respondent a letter on or before November 5, 2012. (R. p. 177) A copy of the letter was also provided to the Charleston County Probate Court and to Clarence A. Alexander. The letter stated, in part, "Clarence A. Alexander and I will gladly oblige and include Mr. Hines as an heir to the Estate of Clarence C. Alexander, upon being provided conclusive DNA testing from a licensed DNA lab showing that you, Mr. Tracy Hines, are the biological child of Clarence C. Alexander." On November 19, 2012, Respondent and John Alexander, brother of the Decedent, had blood drawn by LabCorp and on November 29, 2012 Michael W. Schmiederer, Ph.D., MT, and Director certified that the probability that John Alexander was the uncle of Respondent was 99.51%. (R. p. 179)

"The necessary elements of a contract are offer, acceptance, and valuable

acceptance in the offeree.” Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C., 354 S.C. 397, 406, 584 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003) (quoting Carolina Amusement Co. v. Conn. Nat’l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 437 S.E. 2d 122 (Ct. App. 1993)) “A unilateral contract occurs when there is only one promisor and the other party accepts, not by mutual promise, but by actual performance.” Id. at 405, 165-66. In the case at hand, the personal representative, acting under the authority granted to her, made a promise to include the Respondent as an heir to the Decedent’s estate if Respondent would provide conclusive DNA evidence that Respondent was Decedent’s son. Respondent provided said DNA evidence and accepted Appellant’s offer through his performance.

#### CONCLUSION